I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Isabelle Bichindaritz Ph.D. was born in France and 

speaks with a French accent. She was employed as a professor at the 

University of Washington until she was terminated. Dr. Bichindaritz was 

the plaintiff below and the respondent at the Court of Appeals in this case, 

which was brought under the Public Records Act. RCW 42.56 et seq. 

II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

At trial, the Honorable Monica Benton, found that the University 

acted in bad faith with a self-serving motive in delaying production of 

12,000 documents (containing three smoking gun documents) long enough 

so the records would not be available for use in Dr. Bichindaritz's federal 

lawsuit (Conclusion of Law 2.7; Conclusion of Law 2.17). She imposed a 

penalty of$723,290.50 ($0.50 per page for each day of delay after June 7, 

2011) and awarded $102,958.03 in attorney fees. 

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court concluding that since 

Dr. Bichindaritz had closed her PRA case for a few months and then 

reinstated it, most of the misconduct occurred outside the PRA's statute of 

limitations, and thus the actual amount of time it took the University to 

produce the documents after the new PRA request was submitted (about 5 

months), was reasonable. 

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-001 through 
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A-011. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration 

is in the Appendix at page A-012. A copy of the order denying petitioner's 

motion to publish is in the Appendix at page A-013. 

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Under the PRA (RCW 42.56.520), responses to requests for public 

records shall be made promptly by agencies. When an agency is a 

defendant in a federal discrimination lawsuit and it intentionally withholds 

12,000 records, some of which contain information relevant to the 

petitioner's discrimination claims, for two years, when time was of the 

essence; and then after the discovery cutoff in the federal discrimination 

lawsuit, produces the records redacted to mask the relevance of certain 

records; if part of the delayed production falls outside the PRA statute of 

limitations, is the Court of Appeals wrong to conclude that the trial court 

committed error by considering facts outside the statute of limitations in 

assessing whether the records were promptly produced? 

Should attorney fees and costs be awarded on appeal? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Federal Litigation 

On August 25, 2010, Dr. Bichindaritz filed a lawsuit against the 

University in the Federal District Court in Seattle alleging that the 

University had discriminated against her on the basis of her sex by not 
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granting her tenure in an all male computer science department, and 

retaliated against her for opposing discrimination. CP 951-960. In the 

complaint, Dr. Bichindaritz focused her claim on the actions of 

Department Director Orlando Baiocchi from 2005 through 2010. CP 955-

58. Dr. Bichindaritz alleged that Dr. Baiocchi treated her differently and 

blocked her tenure several times despite the tenure committee's 

recommendations in favor of tenure, ultimately culminating in her 

termination. CP 955-58. 

The federal sex discrimination complaint did not contain an 

allegation of national origin discrimination even though nation origin 

discrimination had been identified as a claim in her March 11, 2010 EEOC 

filing. CP 579. 

The federal sex discrimination case was litigated over the next two 

years. The discovery cutoff was June 5, 2011. CP 582. Defendant's 

motion for summary judgment to dismiss the retaliation claim was filed on 

July 5, 2011. CP 583. The plaintiffs response to the summary judgment 

motion was filed on July 25, 2011. CP 585. On September 19, 2011, the 

University's summary judgment motion was denied. CP 588. A bench 

trial was held from April9, 2012 through April16, 2012, and the court 

entered its decision for the University on April20, 2012. CP 592-3. 
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B. The PRA Request and Production 

Before the federal litigation began, and before Dr. Bichindaritz 

filed her EEOC complaint, she sought, among other things, to obtain 

records under the PRA including production of"all emails related to me." 

CP 393-96. She listed over 90 names of persons who may have sent or 

received such emails. !d. This request was assigned No. 09-11792. CP 

401. 

By October 2009, all of the documents responsive to the PRA 

request had been assembled by the University. FF 1.8-.9, CP 1130, CP 

762, CP 750-52, CP 780, FF 1.19, CP 1132; see also CP 667-76 and CP 

969. 

In early June 2010, Dr. Bichindaritz visited the Office of Public 

Records (OPR) at the University and spoke to Assistant Public Records 

Officer Andrew Palmer who said, "there were 2-3 boxes remaining" and 

that "these would be completed in July." CP 969; CP 879. 

On June 15, 2010, the University terminated Dr. Bichindaritz. FF 

1.17, CP 1132. 

Dr. Bichindaritz was informed that, "the remaining 10,000 records 

would be released to me by July 20, 2010." CP 982 and 993; see also CP 

983 and 993. 
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On July 28, 2010, when the promised production did not occur, Dr. 

Bichindaritz followed up with the University about its progress on her 

requested documents. CP 880 and 993. She was told that the final emails 

would be provided in September 2010. !d. The last production before Dr. 

Bichindaritz filed her lawsuit in August 2010, occurred on July 28, 2010, 

in which "Stage 5" production was announced. CP 1191-2. 

It is undisputed that, "as of July 30, 2010, about 12,000 pages had 

still not been produced" by the University. FF 1.19, CP 1132. The 

University did not complete production by the end of July as promised. 

After the federal sex discrimination lawsuit was filed, PRA 

production slowed to a snail's pace. Dr. Bichindaritz testified that, 

sometime after the lawsuit was filed, "[ d]uring one of my conversations 

with the Office of Public Records, I was informed that the responsive 

documents were in the possession of the Attorney General's Office at the 

University ofWashington." CP 880. 1 This may explain the University's 

inability to produce the remaining documents by the end of July as 

promised. 

II 

II 

1 This fact is omitted from the Court of Appeals' decision. 
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C. The Statute of Limitations Issue 

Contrary to the University's promise of a July 2010 completion 

date for the production, no additional documents were produced until 

December 2010, at which time "Stage 6" production was announced as 

ready for pick up. Stage 6 contained 4098 pages of emails at a cost of 

$614.70. CP 1206. 

It is significant that these documents were fully reviewed and 

ready for pick up, meaning about 8,000 documents remained to be 

produced. 

In December 2010, Dr. Bichindaritz was in France and did not pick 

up the documents. FF 1.6, CP 1133; CP 684. 

On January 31, 2011, the University sent Dr. Bichindaritz, through 

her attorney, a letter and invoice that referenced Request #TR-2010-

00156, asking for her to contact the office and indicating, "If we have not 

heard from you by that date; we will dispose of the copied records and 

closeyourrequest."CP 1214,421;FF 1.27,CP 1133-34. 

On February 7, 2011, her attorney at that time, Rick Gautschi, 

called the University and closed case #TR-2010-00156. FF 1.27, CP 1134, 

see also CP 423. Dr. Bichindaritz understood that suspending PRA 

Request No. 09-11792 would not inhibit the progress of her suit "because 
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[she] would get ... more [documents], during the lawsuit discovery 

process." CP 880. 

For the next three months, Dr. Bichindaritz utilized the discovery 

process in the federal litigation, which ended with the discovery cutoff on 

June 5, 2011. CP 582. Believing that documents had not been produced 

in the federal litigation, Dr. Bichindaritz immediately contacted the 

University to reopen her 2009 PRA claim by letter dated June 6, 2011, 

asking the University to, "restart processing my first public records 

request to you, which is #09-11792". (FF 1.28, CP 1134; CP 425). The 

new request asked for the very same emails requested in 2009. 

The 4098 pages of emails, which were identified as the Stage 6 

production that were not picked up by Dr. Bichindaritz, but which were 

ready for pick up in December 2010, were not produced at that time. 

The University admitted in a CR 30(b)(6) deposition conducted in 

2013 that the PRA documents are not destroyed and redacted pages are 

saved. CP 715-16. Thus, the 4038 pages could have been produced on 

the same day they were requested. 

Despite the June 2010 timeline, in which Assistant Public Records 

Officer Andrew Palmer said "there were 2-3 boxes remaining" and that 

"these would be completed in July" (CP 969; CP 879); and despite the fact 

that over 4,000 of the 12,000 documents in those boxes were reviewed and 

-7-



.. 

approved for release in December 2010; a month passed with no document 

production, but the University productive in other ways. 

On July 5, 2011, the University filed its motion for summary 

judgment. CP 583. The plaintiffs response to the summary judgment 

motion was filed on July 25, 2011, again without the benefit of any PRA 

production although time was of the essence. CP 585. 

In August 2011, the University began filing its motions in limine, 

since the Federal discrimination trial date was set for October 3, 2011. CP 

582. 

On August 15, 2011, the University produced the first documents 

responsive to the June 6, 2011 PRA request totaling 4,379 pages of emails. 

CP 323. Three more production stages followed, but the record does not 

indicate whether the 2010 Stage 6 documents were included in the August 

production, a later production, or whether they were spread over all four 

productions. 

On September 16, 2011, the federal judge struck the October trial 

date. CP 587. On September 19, 2011, the University's summary 

judgment motion was denied. CP 588. Motions in limine dragged 

through September and during that time Mr. Gautschi withdrew the 

plaintiffs jury demand and withdrew as Dr. Bichindaritz's Counsel. CP 

588. 
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Now that Dr. Bichindaritz was without her original lawyer and 

without a jury, ALL OF THE REMAINING PAGES OF EMAILS 

FROM THE 2009 PRA REQUEST (about 7,700 pages) WERE 

PRODUCED BETWEEN OCTOBER 7 AND NOVEMBER 15, 2011. 

CP 323. 

The Sheridan Law Firm, P.S. appeared as Dr. Bichindaritz's 

counsel in October 2011 and represented her through the federal bench 

trial and in this litigation (a separate law firm represented her in the 

federal appeal). CP 589. 

Unfortunately, long after all of the depositions were conducted in 

the case, and long after the June discovery cutoff, Dr. Bichindaritz found 

herself with 12,000 pages of documents to review while getting ready for 

trial. She reviewed the August 2011 production, but owing to costs and 

other issues, was not able to review the remainder of the production until 

February 2012 after the University stopped charging for electronic copies. 

CP 882,454. 

After she obtained the production, Dr. Bichindaritz identified two 

emails that pertained to her EEOC filing regarding national origin 

discrimination. The first document was an April 2007 email string 

regarding travel requests submitted by Dr. Bichindaritz from Professor 
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Larry Wear to Dr. Baiocchi (the named defendant in the federal 

discrimination case) stating, 

During the Second World War someone asked Churchill 
which was the heaviest cross he had to carry and he said 
'the Cross of Loraine' referring to De Gaulle living in 
London. Don't need to say more ... 

CP 388 (A0059548 _ 273). In the federal litigation, it was not produced in 

discovery. CP 882. It was produced in response to the June 2011 PRA 

request on November 3, 2011, which was a request for the 2009 

documents still not produced. CP 719, 734, 737, 685, FF 1.37. It was 

produced long after the discovery cutoff in the federal litigation. CP 685, 

FF 1.5, 1.14, 1.20, 1.28. 

The second document was an email string between Professor 

Hanks and Dr. Baiocchi involving course schedule issues. Hanks wrote: 

That is a long story, Steve ... "Technically" it started when 
you left the Senate (officially, 1 mean), but in fact she 
managed to start attending just now. Many, many years ago 
I had an Alfa Romeo. Everything there was a complication, 
even the mechanism to move the seats had twenty moving 
parts ... One day a mechanic look at me and said: "These 
Europeans ... , if it can be simple, why not make it 
complicate[ d)? That image comes to my mind now and 
then, since I joined the Institute ... 

(Well, The Alfa is not French ... ) 

CP 390 (A0059549 _153). It was produced in response to the PRA request 

on November 3, 2011. CP 719, 734, 737, 685, FF 1.37. It was produced 
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long after the discovery cutoff in the federal litigation. CP 685, FF 1.5, 

1.14, 1.20, 1.28 

After obtaining these documents, Dr. Bichindaritz sought to amend 

the federal complaint to include a national origin claim, but was denied on 

April6, 2012. CP 1328-29. Dr. Bichindaritz sought to dismiss the case 

and to bring the case in state court but was denied. CP 590-91. Both 

emails became exhibits in the federal bench trial, but were not offered 

since they pertained to national origin and not gender. CP 1363. 

On February 14, 2012, Dr. Bichindaritz filed a parallel action in 

state court. CP 1. On February 23, 2012, she amended the complaint to 

add the PRA claim. CP 51. The parallel action in state court was 

subsequently dismissed by the trial court with the exception of Dr. 

Bichindaritz's PRA claim. CP 69. 

In 2013, Dr. Bichindaritz asked the trial court to review in camera 

some of the documents produced with redactions in 2011. On July 25, 

2013 and August 2, 2013, the trial court issued two orders releasing 

documents unredacted. CP 611, CP 612. Among them was a January 

2008 email exchange between Professor Larry Wear and Dr. Baiocchi 

regarding Dr. Bichindaritz, which included comments made by a female 

faculty member who shared a committee assignment with Dr. 

Bichindaritz. 
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The email string was heavily redacted to delete comments by Dr. 

Baiocchi and others that were unfavorable to the University's federal case. 

The following portion of the email had not been produced and was of 

particular interest to Dr. Bichindaritz and to the trial court. Professor Wear 

wrote to Dr. Baiocchi: 

I believe the nursing person made the comments about 
gender. The nursing person who was on Isabelle's 
committee hinted that we might be picking on Isabelle's 
teaching because she was a woman. I didn't care for her 
much. 

CP 237, 620 CP 1138 (#006792). This document was printed on 10/6/09 

but not produced in the federal litigation, and not produced with the nurse-

related comments unredacted until2013, when Judge Benton ordered its 

unredacted production. As a result, Dr. Bichindaritz lost witnesses and 

opportunities for discovery and cross-examination in the federal case. CP 

948, 1655. 

The University provided only a stamped citation to the exemption 

section of the PRA when it redacted documents. In this case, the 

University claimed as the exemption, RCW 42.56.230(3), which provides 

an exemption to production for, "Personal information in files maintained 

for employees, appointees, or elected officials of any public agency to the 

extent that disclosure would violate their right to privacy." The trial court 

found that this exemption did not apply. CP 611, CP 612. 
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The PRA case was tried by affidavit and on September 6, 2013, the 

trial court entered detailed findings of fact. CP 1128. The trial court 

found that the University acted in bad faith with a self-serving motive in 

delaying production of 12,000 documents (containing three smoking gun 

documents) long enough so that the records would not be available for use 

in Bichindaritz's federal lawsuit. (Conclusion of Law 2.7; Conclusion of 

Law 2.17). Judge Benton imposed a $723,290.50 penalty ($0.50 per page 

for each day of delay after June 7, 2011) and awarded $102,958.03 in 

attorney fees. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Petition Involves An Issue Of Substantial Public 
Interest That Should Be Determined By The Supreme 
Court Because The University Engaged In Serious 
Deceptive Misconduct That Goes To The Heart Of The 
PRA's Purpose 

This Court should accept review because the University made a 

calculated decision to delay and withhold production of 12,000 pages of 

emails it considered important to the petitioner's federal case. 2 Unless this 

Court acts, the University will not be held accountable for serious 

2 The University claims that since the federal judge denied a FRCP 60 
motion after the trial court made its ruling in this case, the documents 
should not be considered as important. But this misses the point. The 
University considered the documents important enough to delay, redact, 
and withhold, behavior the PRA is designed to prevent and discourage. 
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misconduct and the public will suffer, because the lesson being taught by 

the Court of Appeals is delay and manipulation by government is 

acceptable. The "nursing person" email is the most graphic example of 

the University's misconduct. The email shows that the University 

identified and printed out the document in October 2009, but did not 

produce it until the PRA trial court ordered its unredacted production in 

2013. It was withheld for two years without justification, which amounted 

to a silent withholding, and when it was produced in 2011, it was redacted 

based on an exemption that did not apply. 3 No log was provided to 

summarize what was under the black ink covering the important entries, so 

Dr. Bichindaritz could not know that the redacted portion identified a 

potential witness who thought that the tenure denial was related to gender, 

and revealed that Dr. Baiocchi was discussing that very issue with a male 

professor during her tenure review. None of it was available for the 

3 A two-year delay in production is akin to a silent withholding, since by 
the time the records were produced they had little or no application to the 
federal discrimination case because all the discovery deadlines had long 
passed. "The Public Records Act clearly and emphatically prohibits silent 
withholding by agencies of records relevant to a public records request." 
Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. ofWashington, 125 Wn.2d 243, 
270, 884 P.2d 592, 607 (1994). 
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federal trial. As a result, Dr. Baiocchi was able to falsely testify at the 

federal trial as follows: 

Q. All right. And did you receive any complaints, after you got 
in about how you were managing the organization? 

A. Complaints? No. 

Q. Yeah. Did anybody suggest that perhaps you were favoring 
men over women? 

A. No, sir. 

CP 1680. 

Professor Wear's "nursing person" email to Dr. Baiocchi direct! y 

contracts Baiocchi's trial testimony. See CP 237 ("I believe the nursing 

person made the comments about gender ... The nursing person who was 

on Isabelle's committee hinted that we might be picking on Isabelle's 

teaching because she was a woman.") 

The PRA '"is a strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of 

public records."' Soter v. Cowles Publ'g Co., 162 Wn.2d 716, 731, 174 

P.3d 60 (2007) (quoting Hearst Com. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 127, 580 

P.2d 246 (1978)). "The PRA's purpose is to increase access to 

government records." Sanders v. State ofWashington, 169 Wn.2d 827, 

849, 240 P.3d 120 (2010). To that end, the legislature has declared: 

The people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the 
agencies that serve them. The people, in delegating 
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authority, do not give their public servants the right to 
decide what is good for the people to know and what is not 
good for them to know. The people insist on remaining 
informed so that they may maintain control over the 
instruments that they have created. This chapter shall be 
liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed 
to promote this public policy and to assure that the public 
interest will be fully protected. In the event of conflict 
between the provisions of this chapter and any other act, 
the provisions of this chapter shall govern. 

RCW 42.56.030 (emphasis added). 

"Agencies are required to disclose any public record on request 

unless it falls within a specific, enumerated exemption. RCW 

42.56.070(1). The burden is on the agency to show a withheld record falls 

within an exemption, and the agency is required to identify the document 

itself and explain how the specific exemption applies in its response to the 

request." Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Cnty. v. Cnty. of Spokane, 

172 Wn.2d 702, 715, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) (citing RCW 42.56.550(1) and 

Sanders v. State. 169 Wn.2d 827, 845-46, 240 P.3d 120 (2010)). 

Had Dr. Bichindaritz not withdrawn her claim in February 2011, 

the statute of limitations would not have been triggered, because the 

University used improper exemption citations for the "nursing person" 

email and many of the documents later produced. Rental Hous. Ass'n of 

Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 539-40, 199 P.3d

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