RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
May 18, 2015, 3:32 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 91571-7

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ISABELLE BICHINDARITZ,

Petitioner,

v,

UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE MONICA J. BENTON

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

GARVEY SCHUBERT BARER

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355

By: Seth J. Berntsen WSBA No. 30379

Special Assistant Attorney General Special Assistant Attorney General

Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

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

C. Argument for Denial of Review.

Washington courts have repeatedly held that an agency complies with the PRA by responding to a records request within a reasonable time, considering the scope and nature of the request. See, e.g., West v. Dep't of Licensing, 182 Wn. App. 500, 331 P.3d 72 (ten months reasonable time for "complex" request), rev. denied. 339 P.3d 634 (2014); Andrews v. Wash. State Patrol, 183 Wn. App. 644, 334 P.3d 94 (2014) (courts apply a "flexible approach that focuses upon the thoroughness and diligence of an agency's response" in determining compliance with the PRA), rev. denied, 182 Wn.2d 1011 (2015). Ignoring this settled law, Bichindaritz asks this Court to create new duties not found anywhere in the PRA including duties to perpetually maintain records from closed requests, and to prioritize the requests of litigants – and to subvert the PRA's one-year statute of limitations by including "time outside" the statute of limitations" under the guise of "context or motive." The Court of Appeals properly rejected petitioner's arguments as inconsistent with the letter and purpose of the PRA and with Washington precedent. This Court should deny review. 13.4(b).

1. Agencies do not have a perpetual duty to process and maintain records from closed PRA requests. Requesters cannot revive timebarred claims by submitting serial requests for the same documents.

An agency's duties under the PRA cease the moment a requester closes a document request, either by affirmatively canceling it or failing to pick up an installment of records. RCW 42.56.120 ("the agency is not obligated to fulfill the balance of the request" after "an installment of a records request is not claimed or reviewed"); WAC 44-14-040(10) ("When the requestor ... withdraws the request ... the public records officer will close the request.").3 If an agency could be held liable for violating the PRA based on the "context" of closed – and time-barred – requests, as Bichindaritz argues, agencies would have a perpetual duty to maintain and process records. But the PRA imposes no such duty. Nor does the PRA contemplate that requesters can indefinitely preserve their right to seek judicial relief under the PRA. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Bichindaritz's novel arguments as

³ WAC ch. 44-14 contains the Attorney General's model regulations for PRA compliance. The model regulations, issued pursuant to RCW 42.56.570(2), are non-binding advisory regulations representing "best practices" for agencies to comply with the PRA. See WAC 44-14-00001-00003.

inconsistent with established law. Its unpublished decision presents no grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Bichindaritz's proposed "context" rule (Petition 17) would require agencies to indefinitely retain documents from closed requests; a requester could "reopen" a request at any time and the agency would be liable if it failed to produce the documents on the very same day. To the contrary, an agency may dispose of assembled documents after a request is closed. WAC 44-14-04006 (after a request is closed "[a]n agency is not required to keep assembled records set aside indefinitely"); WAC 44-14-040(6)(b) (agency may "refile the assembled records" after closing a request). The Model Rules further discourage a requester from wasting agency time and public resources by closing a request and then submitting a second request for identical documents by providing that "[o]ther public records requests can be processed ahead of a subsequent request by the same person for the same ... records." WAC 44-14-040(6)(b).

The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that the PRA's statute of limitations would have no meaning if parties could file and then withdraw a PRA request, fail to timely bring suit, and nevertheless recover on the time-barred request by bringing suit on

a new request purporting to "reopen" the initial request. (Op. 8) Rather than condone such artifices that would "preserve [an] ... action indefinitely," "society benefits when it can be assured that a time comes when one is freed from the threat of litigation." Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood, 178 Wn.2d 635, 652, ¶ 34, 310 P.3d 804 (2013); Estates of Hibbard, 118 Wn.2d 737, 745, 826 P.2d 690 (1992); see also Bartz v. State Dep't of Corr. Pub. Disclosure Unit, 173 Wn. App. 522, 536, ¶ 30, 297 P.3d 737 (rejecting argument "that the legislature intended no statute of limitations for PRA actions involving the production of a single volume of documents"), rev. denied sub nom. 177 Wn.2d 1024 (2013).

Bichindaritz concedes that the statute of limitations began running on her 2009 PRA request when she "withdr[ew] her claim in February 2011." (Petition 16) The one-year statute of limitations under RCW 42.56.550(6) therefore expired on her 2009 request on February 8, 2012, before she filed her lawsuit on February 23, 2012. The Court of Appeals properly refused to impose a perpetual duty on agencies to process and maintain records from closed requests, or to allow requesters to revive time-barred claims by submitting serial requests for the same documents.

2. The Court of Appeals properly refused to consider time-barred conduct for "context or motive."

The Court of Appeals also properly rejected Bichindaritz's argument that it could include "time outside the statute of limitations" when deciding whether the University complied with the PRA, correctly reasoning that any purported delays that "occurred more than one year before February 23, 2012... are time barred under the one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550," and that regardless Bichindaritz forfeited any right to challenge that conclusion by failing to appeal the trial court's order dismissing her claims based on her 2009 request. (Op. 8-9) Its unpublished decision raises no issues of public interest and does not conflict with any Washington precedent. RAP 13.4(b).

The PRA's one-year statute of limitations "is a legislative declaration of public policy" meant to provide finality that "the courts can do no less than respect." Cost Mgmt., 178 Wn.2d at 651, ¶ 33 (internal quotation omitted). Under the PRA, Bichindaritz's 2009 and 2011 requests are separate and distinct, governed by separate limitations periods. Greenhalgh v. Dep't of Corr., 170 Wn. App. 137, 150, ¶ 32, 282 P.3d 1175 (2012) ("each written request for records under the PRA [is] a single request"). An agency may treat

serial requests under the PRA as distinct even if they request the same records, just as the University did. WAC 44-14-040(6)(b) ("a subsequent request by the same person for the same or almost identical records... can be processed as a new request"). Whether the University complied with the PRA in responding to Bichindaritz's 2011 request can be judged based only on how it responded to *that* request, not on how it responded to Bichindaritz's 2009 request for which judicial review was time-barred.

Including "time outside the statute of limitations" under the guise of considering "context or motive" (Petition 17), would impermissibly impose liability for conduct occurring outside the limitations period — a result this Court has expressly rejected. Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims, 152 Wn.2d 421, 438, 98 P.3d 463 (2004) (PRA statute of limitations acts as "a limitation on the penalty period"); see also Cost Mgmt., 178 Wn.2d at 651-52, ¶¶ 32-35 (rejecting party's attempt to "reach[] back beyond the legal statute of limitations" because it would allow "recovery for the stale, time-barred, portion of its claim"); Atchison v. Great W. Malting Co., 161 Wn.2d 372, 382, ¶ 19, 166 P.3d 662 (2007) (rejecting "loophole" to avoid the statute of limitations).

Loeffelholz v. Univ. of Washington, 175 Wn.2d 264, 285 P.3d 854 (2012), does not support Bichindaritz's argument that the University's response to her 2009 request may establish a violation of the PRA in responding to her 2011 request. (Petition 18) Loeffelholz involved a hostile work environment claim, which this Court recognized is a "unique" cause of action based not on a singular event, but on "the cumulative effect of individual acts." 175 Only under those circumstances was Wn.2d at 273, ¶ 17. "unrecoverable conduct . . . admissible as background evidence to give context" to whether the post-limitations conduct "was a natural extension of the [pre-limitations] conduct." Loeffelholz, 175 Wn.2d at 276, 278, ¶¶ 25, 30 (emphasis added). But under the PRA, one request cannot be an "extension" of another - each request is distinct. Greenhalgh, 170 Wn. App. at 150, ¶ 32; WAC 44-14-040(6)(b).

Regardless, the "context" Bichindaritz asks this Court to consider only confirms that the University complied with the PRA. When Bichindaritz closed her initial request in February 2011, the University retained 12,000 pages of documents it had yet to review, despite no obligation to do so. When Bichindaritz submitted a new request for the remaining documents, the University promptly

responded, reviewing and producing 12,000 pages in five months. Bichindaritz conceded that six months was a reasonable time period to review and produce the remaining 12,000 pages.⁴ (CP 1415-16)

Moreover, the trial court did not base its conclusion that the University violated the PRA on the "context" provided by prelimitations conduct. As the Court of Appeals recognized, "[t]he court decided a *violation* had occurred based only on the fivemonth production of the final 12,000 pages between June and November 2011." (Op. 9) (emphasis in original) The Court of Appeals properly rejected the trial court's decision that five months was too long "on the unsustainable assumption that documents are ready to be produced as soon as they are assembled." (Op. 9) Bichindaritz now shuns that assumption despite having invited the trial court to make it. (Op. 5: noting the trial court's findings and conclusions were "adapted from a set proposed by Bichindaritz").

⁴ Bichindaritz cites no support for her assertion that "4,038 pages could have been produced on the same day they were requested." (Petition 7) As Bichindaritz herself recognizes, "the record does not indicate" what happened to the 4,038 pages of "Stage 6" documents that she failed to pick up. (Petition 8) When she closed her 2009 request, WAC 44-14-040(6)(b) allowed the University to refile those documents with the 8,000 pages of unreviewed documents. Consistent with her prior concession, Bichindaritz makes no argument that five months was an unreasonable amount of time to review and produce 8,000 pages.

Bichindaritz's invitation to adopt an unprecedented "context" rule that creates potentially unlimited liability is little more than a backdoor challenge to the statute of limitations ruling she failed to appeal. As the Court of Appeals held, that ruling "remains in effect as a conclusion of law precluding redress of violations that may have occurred before February 23, 2011." (Op. 9) See also Beltran v. State Dept. of Social and Health Services, 98 Wn. App. 245, 254, 989 P.2d 604 (1999) (unappealed summary judgment is "the law of the case"), rev. granted, 140 Wn.2d 1021 (2000). The Court of Appeals' rejection of Bichindaritz's reliance on time-barred conduct in an unpublished decision presents no issue for review.

3. The PRA is not a substitute for civil discovery.

The PRA is a tool for all citizens to "remain[] informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments that they have created." RCW 42.56.030; RCW 42.56.080. Bichindaritz proposes a rule that contravenes this policy. She would instead require agencies — and their neutral public records officials — to provide preferential treatment to PRA requests that are made to bolster a private litigant's claims against a public agency. The PRA forbids agencies from prioritizing the requests of litigants, commanding

that agencies "shall not distinguish among persons requesting records." RCW 42.56.080. Further, "the public records act was not intended to be used as a tool for pretrial discovery." *Limstrom v. Ladenburg*, 136 Wn.2d 595, 614 n.9, 963 P.2d 869 (1998). The Court of Appeals correctly refused to accept Bichindaritz's contention that the University was required to prioritize her request because she had sued the University in separate litigation.

Forcing agencies to prioritize the requests of litigants, as Bichindaritz asks this Court to do, would impose unreasonable and costly burdens on public agencies. For example, if suing an agency on non-PRA claims places the agency on notice that "time [is] of the essence" (Petition 8), an agency's public record officials would be required to cross-reference PRA requests with all active litigation against the agency, prioritizing the requests of those who have sued the agency.

Likewise, the reasonableness of an agency's response cannot turn on discovery deadlines in other litigation. (Petition 9-12) The PRA does not require an agency to produce records in time for use in litigation; it requires that an agency respond "promptly" and "reasonabl[y]" considering the scope and nature of the request. RCW 42.56.520; West, 182 Wn. App. at 513-15, ¶¶ 41-47; Andrews,

183 Wn. App. 646, ¶ 2. And here, Bichindaritz ignores that she submitted her June 2011 request *after* discovery closed in the federal suit, precluding any response before the discovery cutoff. (Compare Petition 9 with CP 582)

Nor does the PRA require neutral public records officials to make value-laden decisions about which documents are most relevant to the requester's litigation against the agency. Instead, the PRA requires agencies to review documents for exemptions, as the University did here. RCW 42.56.070(1); see also West, 182 Wn. App. at 515 (agency has no "obligation to provide the installments in any particular order"). Moreover, because Bichindaritz never informed the University's public records officials why she needed the documents (and they appropriately did not ask, RCW 42.56.080), the University had no basis for knowing that Bichindaritz desired any documents more than others. (CP 319, 328) In short, Bichindaritz's request was not entitled to priority over requests from other citizens because she had sued the University.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Bichindaritz's argument that the PRA is a substitute for civil discovery intended to vindicate alleged discovery violations in separate litigation, even

after those allegations have been rejected by the judge that presided over that litigation. Its decision presents no grounds for review.

4. If this Court accepts review it should review the unaddressed issues raised by the University below.

Should this Court accept review, it should review the issues the Court of Appeals declined to address, including whether the trial court erred in concluding the University acted in bad faith; whether the University's request for an evidentiary hearing should have been granted; whether a penalty can be imposed on a per-page basis; whether the trial court erred in imposing post-judgment interest; whether the award of attorney fees is sufficiently supported; and whether to take judicial notice of Judge Lasnik's ruling.⁵ RAP 13.7(b) (App. Br. 31-50; Reply Br. 14-25).

D. Conclusion.

This Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision.

⁵ Judge Lasnik rejected Bichindaritz's allegation that the University withheld documents to undermine her federal lawsuit, finding the University did not produce two emails referencing her national origin during discovery because she did not request them, and that the University's "discovery response played no part in how [she] fashioned her complaint." (Compare CP 1321 with Petition 3; see also CP 1328-29) Bichindaritz concedes that she in fact used these two emails in the federal trial. (Petition 11)

Judge Lasnik likewise rejected Bichindaritz's contention that the failure to produce the single "nursing person" email established a "corrupt motive," noting that "the University[] produc[ed] ... significant evidence going to the same issue" including evidence of "concerns" of three of the University's top administrators, all female, "regarding gender balance in the Institute and the possibility that Dr. Bichindaritz had not been given the assistance, advice, and/or opportunities necessary to generate an acceptable tenure application." (App. Br. Appx. D) Judge Lasnik found that the late disclosure "in no way affected the outcome of" Bichindaritz's trial, including her cross-examination of witnesses. If Bichindaritz "lost witnesses and opportunities for discovery and cross-examination," it was the result of her own failure to utilize "the liberal rules of federal discovery [which] gave plaintiff an opportunity to obtain documents in this venue separate and apart from the PRA." (Compare App. Br. Appx. D with Petition 12, 15)